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Exam 1

Question 1 

Senior Attorney’s practice focuses on copyright law. Because of his expertise in this area and the continuously growing interest in the Internet, he is frequently asked to give presentations at bar association meetings and community groups about copyright issues related to the Internet. As a result of these speeches, Senior Attorney has gained many new clients for his solo law practice. He decides to hire a new associate to assist him in handling the increased workload. The new associate, Junior Attorney, has been practicing for two years, but does not know anything about copyright law.

A few weeks after Junior Attorney begins working with Senior Attorney’s firm, Senior Attorney agrees to represent Client in a copyright infringement case. A few days later, Senior Attorney decides that he does not have time to handle Client’s case personally because of his busy speaking schedule. Senior Attorney assigns the case to Junior Attorney, even though he is aware of Junior Attorney’s inexperience and aware that Junior Attorney does not have adequate time to prepare without assistance from Senior Attorney. Senior Attorney says to Junior Attorney, “I know you haven’t dealt with this type of case before, but this particular case is not very complicated. You can handle it.” Senior Attorney then leaves town to give a presentation at the annual meeting of his state bar.

Was Senior Attorney’s conduct proper?

A.        No, because Senior Attorney did not obtain Client’s consent before assigning the case to Junior Attorney.

B.        No, because Senior Attorney knows Junior Attorney is not competent to handle the matter, and Senior Attorney failed to provide supervision adequate to protect Client’s interest. 


C.        Yes, because Junior Attorney had prior legal experience.


D.        Yes, because once an attorney is admitted to practice, he or she may handle any type of case.

Question 2
Broker operates a real estate agency. Broker’s agency has four offices in Middletown. Broker decides to lease cars for her agents to use when showing properties to potential buyers.  Dealer agrees to lease 16 luxury sedans to Broker, four for each office.  Attorney is frequently retained by Dealer to prepare the lease agreements for major leases. Dealer agrees to several lease provisions requested by Broker on the condition that Attorney prepare the lease agreement for the transaction and that Broker pay Attorney’s fees for preparing the agreement. Attorney fully discloses the implications of multiple representation to the parties and advises them to seek the opinion of other attorneys. After consulting with other lawyers, Dealer and Broker both consent to the representation. For his part, Attorney believes that it is obvious that he can represent the interests of both parties. 

Is it proper for Attorney to prepare the lease agreements in this situation?

A.        No, because the interests of Broker and Dealer may become adverse if a dispute arises between them.

B.         No, because it is improper for Attorney’s fees to be paid by Broker rather than Dealer.

C.        Yes, because Broker and Dealer have given their informed consent to the arrangement.

D.        Yes, if such multiple representation is customary or standard practice in the area where Attorney practices.

Question 3
Attorney frequently represents employers in administrative proceedings before the State Unemployment Compensation Commission. Recently unemployed individuals who have been denied unemployment compensation may request a hearing before the Commission. When representing an employer at one of these hearings, Attorney defends the employer’s assertion that the facts surrounding the former employee’s dismissal do not entitle that individual to unemployment compensation. 

The state legislature is considering an amendment to the state unemployment compensation statute. Attorney believes the amendment is poorly drafted and would make it more difficult for individuals who become unemployed to obtain unemployment benefits. At a hearing before the legislature, Attorney states that, in her personnel opinion, the provision under consideration should not be enacted. Attorney is not involved in any proceedings before the Commission at the time of her statement, but she intends to continue representing employers in such hearings in the future.

 

Was it proper for Attorney to speak at the hearing? 

A.        No, if Attorney’s statement discourages legislators from        taking an action that would be beneficial to employers. 

B.         No, if, in doing so, Attorney took a position which may be adverse to the interests of potential clients.

C.        Yes, because Attorney stated her own opinions as a        concerned citizen.

D.        Yes, because Attorney was not representing an employer in a proceeding before the Commission at the time of her statement.

Question 4 

Attorney recently graduated from Bluff Law School and successfully passed the Bar Exam.  Prior to going to Law School, Attorney practiced as a dentist for the past 15 years.  As a result, most of Attorney’s contacts are in the dental field.

At the last Dental Conference, Attorney approached his old cronies and said, “If you refer your patients to me who are in need of legal services, I will retain you as an expert witness in all of my dental malpractice cases.”

Is Attorney subject to discipline for making such an agreement with his old dental cronies?

A.         Yes, because the agreement allows non-lawyers to practice law.

B.         Yes, because Attorney’s agreement involves something of value in exchange for recommending Attorney’s services.
C.         No, but only if Attorney does not share any legal fees with his old cronies.

D.         No, because Attorney receives a bigger benefit in this Agreement than his cronies.

Question 5 

Clyde has had a sore back for many years, however he refuses to seek medical treatment for his pain.  Last month, he was in a minor auto accident that temporarily disturbed his pre-existing back troubles.  Within a few days, Clyde’s back felt the same as it did prior to the accident.  He decided to retain Attorney so that he could be compensated for his troubles.  Clyde also thought that it would be a good idea to start paying better attention to his back and wanted to start a physical therapy program. 

Clyde informed Attorney of his pre-existing back pain, but told Attorney that should this case proceed to trial, Clyde would testify that his back trouble stemmed from the car accident only.  That way, Clyde’s medical bills and future physical therapy program would be covered.  Attorney informed Clyde that he must testify truthfully about his pre-existing condition, but Clyde insisted on lying about the origin of his back pain.  At trial, Attorney called Clyde to the stand and asked Clyde questions about the origin of his back pain, to which Clyde responded untruthfully as intended.

Is Attorney subject to discipline as a result of Clyde’s testimony?

A.         Yes, because Attorney knowingly offered evidence he knew to be false.

B.         Yes, but only if Attorney receives a favorable verdict on behalf of his client.

C.         No, because Clyde insisted upon giving the false testimony even though Attorney persuaded him against lying.

D.         No, because Clyde would have lied anyway, and Attorney cannot control a client’s actions.

Question 6 

Judge Joe has been presiding over Law and Motion in the Civil Division of State Court for the past five years.  He has always wanted to run for Mayor and, with the up-coming election just six months away, decided that it was time he make the attempt.  Judge thought it would be a good idea to start taking attorneys and other court personnel to lunch so that he could get a personal idea of what political issues people care about.  He also used the opportunity to provide an evaluation of the lawyer’s skills and whether or not they were effective.

Is Judge Joe’s conduct proper?

A.         No, because Judge did not resign prior to setting up the luncheon campaign.

B.         No, unless Judge disqualified himself from any cases that involved an attorney who he took to lunch.

C.        Yes, because Judge also provided an invaluable evaluation of the lawyer’s skills, and the discussion regarding political issues was merely incidental to the lunch.

D.         Yes, but only if each person paid for their portion of the lunch.

Question 7
Parent, a successful businessperson, adopted Child. Parent was unmarried at the time of the adoption. Immediately after the adoption, Parent modified her will to direct that, if Parent dies before Child reaches age 21, Parent’s estate be placed in trust for Child until Child reaches his majority. Parent’s will further directed that the income generated by the trust assets be used for Child’s support until Child reached age 21, at which point the trust should be terminated and the res distributed to Child. Parent died after a long illness when Child is 8 years old. Parent’s will did not name a trustee, so Parent’s Sister sought appointment. The court appointed Attorney guardian ad litem for the limited purpose of representing Child’s interests in the hearing. At the hearing, Sister was appointed as trustee. Attorney concurred in the appointment. Attorney’s appointment as guardian ad litem ended. 

When Child turns 21, Sister contacts Attorney and asks Attorney to represent her in an accounting proceeding so that the trust may be terminated and the assets distributed to Child.

May Attorney agree to represent Sister in the accounting proceeding?

A.         No, unless Sister uses her own personal funds to pay Attorney’s fee.

B.         No, because Attorney, as guardian ad litem, represented Child in the appointment proceeding.

C.          Yes, if Child consents after consultation to Attorney’s representation of Sister.

D.         Yes, because Attorney’s appointment as guardian ad litem ended.

Question 8 

After 10 years of training, Attorney was ready to hike Mount Everest.  He boarded the six-seater plane with the other hikers, including A, and was air lifted to base camp where they spent the night.  They began their assent early the next morning when suddenly a white-out occurred.  Attorney, A, and the others found shelter in a make shift igloo.  Believing that he was going to die, A asked Attorney to prepare a will on his behalf.  Attorney informed A that Attorney has never drafted a will, but would throw one together based on his knowledge from law school.  Attorney then wrote out the will on A’s backpack.  A signed it, and two others hikers acted as witnesses.

Was it proper for Attorney to draft A’s will?

A.        No, because Attorney has never drafted a will.

B.        No, unless A agrees to waive Attorney’s liability for professional malpractice.

C.        Yes, because Attorney performed a legal service that was reasonable under the circumstance.

D.        Yes, unless it is discovered that the will does not meet the  technical requirements to be valid.

Questions 9-11 are based upon the following fact situation:
Millionaire Melanie went to her doctor, Doctor, for a routine check-up.  Upon physical examination, small lumps were discovered in her left breast.  She was referred to a specialist and was subsequently diagnosed with breast cancer that had spread to her lungs.  Unfortunately, Melanie had a poor prognosis and she was told that she only had a few months to live.

Melanie sought Attorney’s services to draft a will, and to file a lawsuit for medical malpractice against Doctor for failing to discover the cancer sooner.  Melanie had acquired much wealth in her lifetime, personal and real property included.  Because of the complexity of her finances and because of the potential of many lawsuits that could be filed should a dispute arise over the distribution of her wealth, Attorney drafted a special retainer agreement.  The agreement provided for a nonrefundable retainer fee of $2,000, which Melanie paid in cash at her first appointment with Attorney.  Additionally, Attorney charged $100 an hour for services rendered in connection with this matter.  Attorney spent 10 hours reviewing Melanie’s file, drafting the will, and investigating her medical malpractice claim.  Attorney became convinced that she did not have a strong claim for malpractice and that she would not prevail in a lawsuit.  The statute of limitations is about to run in the medical malpractice suit, and Attorney wishes to withdraw without filing suit.  Melanie insists that Attorney at least file the medical malpractice complaint before withdrawing.

9.         Is Attorney subject to discipline if she files the complaint on behalf of Melanie?

A.         No, because there is always a possibility of prevailing in a jury trial.

B.         No, unless Attorney filed the complaint for the purpose of harassing Doctor.

C.        Yes, because Attorney made an independent investigation of the facts and discovered that Melanie had no case.

D.        Yes, because Attorney should not have waited to file suit since Melanie was about to die.

10.       Is it proper for Attorney to withdraw without filing the medical malpractice lawsuit?

A.         No, if Melanie’s rights are not adequately protected at the time Attorney withdraws.

B.         No, because Attorney had already accepted a retainer, and had already performed services such as drafting her will.

C.        Yes, because Melanie could always find another attorney to file the suit.

D.        Yes, since Attorney does not believe that Melanie has an adequate claim.

11.       If Attorney withdraws with Melanie’s consent, is it proper for Attorney to keep all or any part of the $2,000 retainer that she paid?

A.         No, because Attorney did not file suit on Melanie’s behalf.

B.         No, because Attorney did not earn the money prior to withdrawing from representation.

C.        Yes, Attorney may keep the entire $2,000 if it represents a reasonable nonrefundable retainer.

D.        Yes, but no more than $1,000 for the ten hours of service rendered.

Question 12 

Attorney met Dog Breeder at the veterinarian’s office.  While waiting for their respective appointments, they engaged in conversation about their dogs and issues relating to dog training.  Just as Breeder’s appointment was called, Attorney explained her services, gave Breeder her business card, and told her to retain her should she ever need an attorney.  Breeder also gave Attorney her card should Attorney ever decide to breed her mutt.

Under which of the following circumstances is Attorney subject to discipline?

I. When Breeder finished with her appointment, she told Attorney that she would contact her tomorrow with a problem she had in collecting payments with respect to her dog breeding business.

II.         During the appointment, Breeder realized that she had utilized Attorney’s services last year when she was involved in a minor contract dispute.

III.            Breeder is Attorney’s second cousin, once removed.

A.            I only.

B.            II only.

C.            II and III.

D.            I, II, and III.

Question 13
Attorney is a deputy prosecuting attorney for a five country area in a sparsely populated section of Jefferson State. As a deputy prosecuting attorney, Attorney has authority to prosecute criminal actions in these five counties. Because the responsibilities of this position do not require Attorney’s full-time attention, Attorney also maintains a private practice. Attorney is permitted by state law to maintain a private practice concurrent with acting as a deputy prosecuting attorney.

Several months ago, Attorney prosecuted Apple for murdering Mr. and Mrs. Orange during the robbery of their convenience store.  Attorney obtained a conviction in the case. Attorney was the sole attorney assigned to the case and handled all aspects of the case. Mr. and Mrs. Orange had two children, ages two and four. The guardian of the two children now wishes to bring a wrongful death action against Apple on behalf of the children. Guardian asks Attorney, in his capacity has a private attorney, to represent Guardian in the case. Without obtaining the consent of Apple or the supervising prosecuting attorney, Attorney accepts the employment.

Is Attorney subject to discipline for accepting employment in the wrongful death action against Apple?

A.         No, because Attorney is no longer involved in the case in his capacity as deputy prosecuting attorney.

B.         No, because representing Guardian is not adverse to the interests of the state as represented by Attorney in his capacity as deputy prosecuting attorney.

C.        Yes, because Attorney participated personally and substantially in the criminal proceeding.

D.        Yes, because Attorney did not obtain the consent of Apple prior to accepting the employment.

Question 14 

The Statute of Limitations for a professional malpractice action in the State of Confusion is three years.  State law allows parties to either shorten or lengthen the Statute of Limitations period regarding malpractice actions, as long as the parties are competent during the relevant period.

Cloe Client retains Attorney to represent her in a personal injury suit.  During Cloe’s first consultation with Attorney, Attorney handed Cloe her retainer agreement.  In this agreement, there is a clause which states that any malpractice actions arising out of the representation must be brought within one year of the date the cause of action occurred.  Attorney did not advise Cloe that she could consult independent counsel before she signed the retainer agreement.

Is Attorney subject to discipline for including the one-year limitation in her retainer agreement?

A.        No, because Cloe could have retained another attorney who does not have such a clause in their retainer agreement.

B.         No, because the law in the State of Confusion allows the parties to shorten the statute of limitations period provided that the parties are competent during the relevant period.

C.        Yes, because such a clause in a retainer agreement is a limitation on the client’s right to sue Attorney for malpractice.

D.        Yes, unless Attorney explains the effects of the provision and the client consents.

Question 15 

Judge and her husband are interested in selling their home.  They contacted Agent and Agent put Judge’s house up for sale.  Last Sunday, Buyer’s agent took her client, Attorney, to several houses.  The last house on the tour was Judge’s house.  Attorney desired Judge’s house and made an offer the moment the tour ended.  The offer was held open for one week.  Meanwhile, on Monday, Attorney was assigned to Judge’s courtroom for trial.

Is it proper for Judge to preside at this trial?

A.        No, because Attorney may have discovered Judge’s secrets  while touring his house.

B.         No, because Judge may have a financial interest in a party in the proceeding.

C.         Yes, but only if the house sells for more than what Judge paid.

D.         Yes, but only if Judge’s wife deals with the real estate transaction.

Question 16

Shoplifter felt guilty for stealing a diamond bracelet from the display case in a jewelry store located in the Mall.  She confessed to Attorney that she had taken the bracelet because she always wanted one and knew her boyfriend could not afford it.  However, guilt consumed her and she wanted to return it, but did not want to get caught.  She then informed Attorney that she had thrown the bracelet into the river.  Shoplifter left town and was never heard from again.

Investigator somehow traced the missing bracelet to Attorney.  Investigator questioned Attorney about the whereabouts of the diamond bracelet.

Should Attorney reveal where Shoplifter threw the bracelet?

A.         No, because revealing the information would violate the duty of confidentiality owed to Shoplifter.

B.         No, because there are no pending charges against Shoplifter.

C.         Yes, because Attorney is the only one to have such information and the jewelry store has the right to know if they will ever recover the stolen diamond bracelet.

D.        Yes, if Attorney reasonably believes it is necessary to establish a defense on his behalf.

Question 17 

Attorney is defending Client who was brought up on charges of violating the State’s anti-foul language statute.  The defense hinges on Client First Amendment right to free speech.  After doing extensive research, Attorney discovers case law that may be persuasive.  The case is rather old, and may be interpreted as being contrary to current law.

Is Attorney subject to discipline if Attorney asserts a defense using such case law?

A.        No, so long as Attorney believes in good faith that the defense argument has merit.

B.         No, because Attorney has the duty to zealously advocate on behalf of his client which includes the duty to present all matters favorable to Client.

C.        Yes, because the old case may be interpreted as being contrary to current case law.

D.        Yes, unless the case law is persuasive to the extent that it can be distinguished from the current case law.

Question 18 

For several years, Attorney has acted as lead counsel on behalf of State.  A class action asbestos lawsuit had been filed against State by employees who allegedly received injuries as a result of working in State Agency.  Attorney successfully defended State and the Appellate Court recently affirmed the judgment.

A few months after the Court of Appeal’s ruling, Attorney decided to pursue private practice.  While in private practice, he was approached by Employee Ernie, who was one of the individuals who brought the class action suit against State.  Ernie informed Attorney that State was about to file charges against him for embezzlement and requested Attorney to defend him in that action.  The embezzlement allegedly took place during the same time period as when Attorney acted as lead counsel on behalf of State.

Is Attorney subject to discipline if he represents Ernie in this action?

A.         No, unless State consented to Attorney’s representation of Ernie.

B.         No, because the second representation involves a different matter.

C.        Yes, because Attorney would not be able to remain objective in the embezzlement case if Attorney discovered discrediting information about Ernie in the asbestos case.

D.        Yes, because Attorney acted as lead counsel in the asbestos lawsuit while employed by State.

Question 19 

Fortunate Fred could not be any happier at this moment.  He just met the woman of his dreams.  Without hesitation, he drove straight to Justin’s Jewels, located on the other side of the tracks.  Justin had the reputation of selling diamond rings for extremely reasonable prices, almost too good to be true.  When Fred asked Justin for the biggest diamond Justin had in stock, Justin replied, “I stole this 10 carat beauty last night and will sell it to you for $1000.”  Fortunate Fred thought that it was a great deal and gave Justin the cash.  

Fred then went to Attorney’s office to have Attorney write a prenuptial agreement and told Attorney of the great diamond ring he just purchased.  Attorney said to Fred, “What a great deal!  No one will know that you bought a ‘hot’ diamond if you don’t say anything.”  Fred proposed to his girlfriend that weekend and Attorney drafted a prenuptial agreement that both Fred and his girlfriend signed.

Was Attorney’s conduct proper?

A.        Yes, because Attorney recognized that Fred got a great deal and did not want to stand in the way of Fred’s marriage proposal.

B.        Yes, unless Attorney accepted Fred as a client.

C.        No, because Attorney advised Fred to commit a fraudulent or illegal act.

D.        No, unless Attorney refused to provide representation                      without an adequate reason.

Question 20 

Attorney filed suit on behalf of Patient for personal injury suffered in connection with a surgery she underwent to remove two tattoos located in a very precarious area.  One tattoo depicted Mickey Mouse, the other Donald Duck.  She decided to have them removed because she was getting married and they had outgrown their welcome.  Because of their location, she sought treatment from Plastic Surgeon, an expert in tattoo removal.  Surgeon removed them, but left big scars in their stead.  Patient was embarrassed and unhappy because the scars showed through her bikini.

During the litigation process, it was necessary to hire Expert to provide testimony establishing that Surgeon performed the tattoo removal negligently.  Expert estimated her fee to be $2000, including review of medical records, deposition and trial testimony.  Patient did not have the money to pay for Expert so Attorney loaned Patient the money to cover Expert’s fee.  Meanwhile, Patient desired to undergo a subsequent surgery to correct the scars.  Attorney loaned her $1000 for this surgery.  Attorney failed to indicate to Patient in writing the terms of the loan.

Is Attorney subject to discipline?

A.         Yes, because Attorney loaned Patient money for the Expert fee.

B.        Yes, because Attorney loaned Patient money for the Expert fee and the subsequent surgery.

C.        Yes, because Attorney loaned Patient money for the subsequent surgery.

D.        No, because Attorney may loan a client money.

Question 21 

After only deliberating for 20 minutes, the jury rendered a million dollar verdict against Manufacturer.  Upon leaving the courthouse, the plaintiff and her Attorney held a news conference.  Reporter asked Attorney her thoughts about the case.  Attorney responded, “We obtained a favorable verdict today because Judge allowed evidence in that probably should not have been admitted.  If Judge wasn’t so high all the time on the bench, perhaps we would not have been so lucky with the verdict.”

Is Attorney subject to discipline for making this statement?

A.        No, because the jury is supposed to render a verdict based upon their own independent judgment.

B.         No, because Attorney has a First Amendment right to free speech in judicial proceedings.

C.        Yes, if Attorney knew that Judge was not high every time he took the bench.

D.        Yes, if Judge did not get high, whether or not Attorney believed the statement to be true.

Question 22 

Attorney owns a classic Corvette, which he recently restored to running condition by putting in a new engine and transmission.  He decided to drive to court one day in this sporty car, which drew much attention from other attorneys and court personnel.

Judge was 50 years old and recently divorced.  When Attorney learned that Judge was recently divorced, he thought that Judge could use a “lift” and offered to lend his Corvette to Judge whenever Judge wanted.  Judge, being an avid Corvette fan and rather lonely during the evening hours, called Attorney the following day to accept Attorney’s offer.

Is Attorney subject to discipline for loaning Judge his Corvette?

A.        Yes, but only if Attorney does not charge Judge for the use of the car.

B.         Yes, if Attorney is likely to come before Judge in his courtroom.

C.        No, because Attorney's actions were benevolent in that he was just trying to lift Judge's spirits. 

D.        No, unless Attorney specifically intended to influence Judge, knowing that Attorney may come before Judge one day.

Question 23 

Judge had been on the bench for approximately six years.  She presided mostly over civil matters, but on occasion would hear criminal cases when there was an overflow.  

Neighbor was recently arrested for possession of a controlled substance.  Neighbor’s trial is about to begin and she requested that Judge testify as to her good character.

Is it proper for Judge to appear and testify?

A.        No, unless Judge presided over civil matters at the time of Neighbor’s trial.

B.         No, because Judge is not permitted to act as a character witness while on the bench.

C.        Yes, but only if Judge had also testified on behalf of Neighbor before Judge took the bench.

D.        Yes, as long as Neighbor’s attorney issues a subpoena for Judge’s testimony at trial.

Question 24 

Attorney received a phone call from Fred, a close friend.  Fred had just been arrested for possession of an illegal substance.  Fred requested that Attorney make the arrangements to bail him out of jail, and represent him.  Attorney agreed.

Subsequently, as Attorney and Fred were discussing trial strategy, Fred stated, “I don’t care what you do, as long as I am cleared of these charges.  I will not have my reputation smeared.”  At the preliminary hearing, Prosecutor informed Attorney of a plea bargain -- enter a guilty plea to a reduced charge in exchange for a reduced sentence.  Attorney turned the offer down since he was confident that he could obtain an acquittal of all charges.  Fred was later convicted.

Was it proper for Attorney to reject the plea?

A.        Yes, because an attorney has a duty to zealously advocate on behalf of his client.

B.        Yes, if Fred would have rejected the plea anyway.

C.        No, because Attorney did not advise Fred of the plea.

D.        No, because Fred was later convicted.

Question 25 

Client retained Attorney to represent her in a complex business transaction.  Client wanted to dissolve her corporation of ten years, but her partner did not.  The unionized employees of the corporation also protested the dissolution.  

Due to the complex situation, Attorney informed Client that Attorney would take her case, as long as Client would pay an estimated 50% of Attorney’s legal fee in advance.  Attorney estimated the total charges to be at least $10,000, and demanded that Client pay $5,000.  Client did not have the cash readily available and, as a result, Client decided to go to another attorney.

Is Attorney subject to discipline?

A.        Yes, because Attorney demanded 50% of the payment in advance.

B.        Yes, because Attorney would not work until she was paid 50% of the legal fee.

C.        No, because Attorney may require advance payment of a fee.

D.        No, if Client had not retained Attorney prior to this case.

Question 26 

Attorney Stark has maintained his business for the past ten years representing criminal defendants.  Most of his business comes from referrals, and on occasion, he receives an appointment by the court to represent indigent clients.

Stark recently received an appointment by the court to represent Dave the Defendant.  Dave allegedly burned down the local church and defaced its adjoining cemetery where all the past clergy had been buried.  Stark, a religious man, knew he could adequately defend Dave, yet found it difficult to represent a person who would commit such a negative act upon church property.

Would it be proper for Stark to avoid this appointment?

A.        No, because Stark does not have a compelling reason why he should not accept such representation.

B.         No, because it is obvious that Stark’s feelings and emotions would prevent him from providing adequate legal services.

C.        Yes, unless Stark was the only attorney available to represent Dave.

D.        Yes, because Stark should be able to turn down appointments whenever possible.

Question 27 

Concerned about the large homeless dog population within its borders, the State X legislature passed a statute which statute read, “Every dog breeder in State X must obtain a permit for every dog designated as a breeder.”  A permit for one dog costs $500.

Daughter recently established her own dog breeding business.  She has twenty dog which she offers for breeding purposes.  Daughter retained Attorney on a contingency fee basis for the purpose of attacking the statute on constitutional grounds.  Without Daughter’s knowledge, Mother contacted Attorney and offered to pay Attorney $10,000 in advance to insure that Attorney’s resources will not dry up prior to completion of the case.  

If Attorney accepts the $10,000, is Attorney subject to discipline?

A.        Yes, because a third party will be paying Attorney’s fee.

B.        Yes, because Daughter was not informed of the payment.

C.        No, because Attorney is allowed to be paid for services rendered.

D.        No, if $10,000 is a reasonable fee.

Question 28 

Attorney Apple is an estate planning attorney who established the Urn’s family trust.  Urn Jr. informed Attorney that his mother tragically but instantly died in an auto accident recently, and her body was cremated.  There is a dispute in the family over the possession of her ashes.  Urn Jr. believes that his mother wanted her ashes thrown into the ocean whereas Urn Sr. believes that the ashes should stay close to him as a reminder of his wife.  Attorney instructed Urn Jr. to deliver the ashes to Attorney’s office until the dispute over them is resolved.  Upon receipt, Attorney labeled the property and placed it in a safety deposit box located behind Attorney’s desk.

The day after Urn Jr. delivered the ashes an earthquake hit the surrounding area.  Attorney’s building was demolished along with its contents.  The ashes cannot be found.

Is Attorney subject to discipline?

A.        No, unless there was a more appropriate place to store Client’s property.

B.         No, unless Attorney did not have liability insurance to cover for such losses.

C.        Yes, because Attorney should be aware of any potential natural disaster and should not store client property in his office.

D.        Yes, because ashes are personal property and, as such, should be left in the client’s possession.

Question 29 

Attorney represents Defendant Dave who has been charged with the first-degree murder of Vicki, a ten-year-old girl.  The defense hinges on the fact that the murder weapon is missing.  Trial is scheduled to begin at the beginning of next month.  One day, while Attorney was preparing for trial, he received a phone call from Bob, Dave’s best friend.  Bob informed Attorney that he saw the knife allegedly used in the murder, but that the knife no longer exists.  Attorney thanked Bob for the information and directed Bob that he should take a European vacation for the next month.  Bob took Attorney’s advice.

Is Attorney subject to discipline?

A.        Yes, so long as Dave was on the witness list for testimony at trial.          

B.        Yes, because Attorney suggested that Bob conceal himself during Dave’s trial.

C.        No, because Attorney did not actively conceal Dave’s testimony by financing Dave’s vacation.

D.        No, because Attorney did not coerce Dave to leave the jurisdiction.  

Question 30
A statute recently passed in State X provides the following: 

“In an effort to promote the health of the environment, every homeowner, including renters, must plant at least one evergreen tree and one fruit bearing tree on their property.  Failure to do so results in a $1000 fine and/or 6 months in jail.”

When Homeowner moved to his current residence, he extracted every tree on his property and replaced them with a beautiful marble stairway with an extremely unique water fountain flowing next to it.  It took Homeowner about a year to complete the project and he spent almost every penny in his bank account.  In order to adhere to the ordinance, Homeowner would have to remove the stairway and fountain.  Homeowner believes that the ordinance should not apply to him because of the great expense involved.  Nevertheless, he believes that he is adhering to the purpose of the statute by using recycled water in the fountain.  

Homeowner sought Attorney’s advice.  Attorney responded, “It is ridiculous to think that the statute applies to you since removal of the stairway and fountain would create such waste.  You should file an action seeking declaratory relief or else just ignore the statute in its entirety.  I doubt this statute would be enforced any way.”

Is Attorney subject to discipline?

A.        No, because Attorney’s comments were proper since the statute did not intend to create waste while promoting the environment.

B.        No, because Attorney assisted Homeowner in a good faith effort to determine the validity of the statute.

C.        Yes, because Attorney instructed Homeowner to violate the statute.

D.        Yes, but only if Attorney does not file a declaratory action on behalf of Client.

Question 31
The homeless problem in State Z has drastically increased in recent months.  Governor establishes a committee to investigate the situation to determine how to control the growing numbers of homeless persons.  Governor proposes to appoint Judge as the committee’s chairperson because of Judge’s prior work with the homeless before she took the bench. 

Is it proper for Judge to accept the appointment?

A.        No, unless the appointment relates to the law, the legal system, or the administration of justice.

B.        No, because there is a strong likelihood that the homeless would appear before Judge.

C.        Yes, but only if Judge recuses herself when a homeless person is before her.

D.        Yes, because it is important for a judge to stay active in their community. 

Question 32 

In which of the following situations would it be proper for Attorney to enter into a fee arrangement whereby Attorney would collect 20% of any recovery awarded to Client?

I.          Client owns an apartment complex that he obtained while married to Ex.  Client and Ex have been divorced for 2 years and Client now seeks a partition of the complex that the divorce court decreed was owned in undivided one-half interests by Client and Ex.

II.         Client retains Attorney for the purpose of seeking an attachment of Ex’s wages since Ex stopped paying spousal support payments five months ago.

III.       Client seeks to establish that Pa is the father of her child.  Client retains Attorney to file a paternity suit in order to collect child support payments.  

A.        I and II only.

B.         I and III only.

C.        II and III only.

D.        I only.

Question 33 

Attorney recently passed the bar exam and was admitted to practice law.  She advertised in the following manner:

Attorney At Law
Family Law Practice includes
Divorce, Adoption, and Estate Planning
(800) 555-5555
Attorney was contacted by the local bar association to welcome her to the legal professional.  The association also requested that she donate her legal services to low-income families who were in need of a family law attorney.

Should Attorney agree to represent low-income families without compensation?

A.        No, because Attorney was recently admitted to practice law,  and she should not have to donate her services this early in her career.

B.        No, unless Attorney has legal malpractice insurance.

C.        Yes, because low income families have the right to access the legal system and the legal profession has the duty to provide such access.

D.        Yes, but only if there is a statute that requires Attorney to provide such services for free.

Question 34 

Attorney has exclusively practiced corporate litigation in State Z for the past 15 years.  A bill that would increase annual filing fees for all corporations with their principal places of business in State Z was up for consideration during the summer session in State Z’s legislature.  Attorney thought that if she could phone every client to inform them of the increase, she perhaps could rally enough people to protest the increased rate.  Attorney pulled her files, and contacted every client.

Is Attorney subject to discipline?

A.        Yes, if Attorney’s intention in contacting her clients was pecuniary gain since the bill, if passed, would require every client to sign additional paperwork for which Attorney could bill.

B.        Yes, because Attorney’s telephone contact constitutes solicitation.

C.        No, because the contact between Attorney and the clients is not face-to-face.

D.        No, because former clients would expect Attorney to contact them with any significant change relating to their corporation’s status.

Question 35 

Attorney represented Employer in a wrongful termination suit brought by Elder.  Elder sued Employer when Elder was suddenly fired due to an alleged lack of performance.  Trial was scheduled to begin next month and Employer requested that Attorney seek a continuance of the trial date.  Employer decided to take a last minute vacation for fear that, should Employer be found liable, Employer would not have the funds for a vacation.

Should Attorney do as Client requested?

A.        No, because the purpose of the continuance is to cause a delay in the proceedings.

B.         No, because Attorney has exclusive authority over the legal tactics of a case.

C.        Yes, because Employer has the final decision over the objectives of his own case.

D.        Yes, because Employer has the right to take a vacation whenever he wants.

Question 36 

Associate worked for Partner’s firm under partner’s direct supervision. Associate was assigned a voluminous caseload. After one month, Associate found himself desperately behind in his work. Several clients complained to Partner about Associate, however Partner did nothing more than ask Associate if he was “on top of” his files. Associate, fearing termination, said that he was. In one file, Associate failed to provide discovery to his adversary and the matter was dismissed. When an irate client complained to Partner, Partner terminated Associate’s employment and had the client’s case reinstated.

Is Partner subject to discipline?

A.        Yes, because he is strictly liable for Associate’s conduct. 

B.        Yes, because he failed to insure that Associate complied with the rules of professional conduct.

C.        No, because the client’s case was reinstated.

D.        No, because Associate appeared to be competent when he indicated he was “on top of” his files.

Question 37 

Lawyer represents Client in a personal injury action. Client was seriously injured in a collision with a car operated by Driver, who was driving while intoxicated.  Driver got intoxicated at a bar owned by Defendant. The case is filed in a state that imposes civil liability for traffic accidents involving intoxicated drivers on both the driver and the individual or establishment that served them. Prior to filing the suit, Lawyer settled Client’s claim against Driver with Driver’s insurance carrier. Driver carried only minimum liability limits. Six months after filing the lawsuit, Lawyer discovered that Defendant’s liquor liability insurance had been cancelled. Lawyer also learned that Defendant had no personal assets. Lawyer advised Client that since Client could not recover any money from Defendant, Lawyer wished to withdraw as counsel. Lawyer gave Client the names and telephone numbers of several competent lawyers. Lawyer petitioned the court to withdraw, claiming undue financial burden.  However, permission to withdraw was denied. Lawyer withdrew anyway. 

Is Lawyer subject to discipline?

A.        Yes, because Lawyer has already collected a fee from Driver’s insurance carrier. 

B.        Yes, because the court denied permission to withdraw. 

C.        No, because Client will not be able to recover any money. 

D.        No, because Lawyer gave Client the names of other competent attorneys. 

Question 38
Client retained Lawyer to represent him in a divorce action. Over the course of the litigation, Lawyer found Client to be both difficult and unreasonable at times. At the outset of the litigation, Client’s wife, Wife, sought and obtained a restraining order, subjecting Client to arrest if he had any contact with Wife or set foot on their marital property. Lawyer carefully explained the order and its consequences to Client, who told Lawyer he understood all the ramifications of a violation of the order. Two days later, Client told Lawyer he was going to get his belongings from his house. Lawyer strongly advised against this. When Client arrived at the home, Wife called the police and Client was arrested. One week before trial, Wife’s attorney called Lawyer with a settlement offer. Lawyer advised Client to accept, saying, ”This is a better deal than the judge will give you and you’ll save trial costs.” Client refused. After the trial, the judge awarded Client’s wife $200.00 more per week in alimony than required under the proposed settlement. Incensed, Client told Lawyer he was incompetent and would sue for malpractice, and Client refused to pay the balance of the bill. Further, Client said that he would see that Lawyer was disbarred for allowing Client to be arrested. Lawyer refused to refund Client’s fee, and advised Client he would sue to collect the balance of his fee.

Is Lawyer subject to discipline?

A.        No, if Lawyer’s representation was competent. 

B.        No, since Client did not take Lawyer’s advice. 

C.        Yes, since Lawyer refused to return a disputed fee.

D.        Yes, because Lawyer threatened to sue his own client. 

Question 39 

Lawyer represents Wife in a divorce proceeding against Husband. Wife is a former cocktail waitress who married Husband, a wildly successful computer magnate. Wife explains that all of the couple’s bank accounts are in Husband’s name and she has no money to pay Lawyer’s retainer. Lawyer knows Wife will be entitled to substantial amount of money under State’s marital distribution laws. Wife suggests that she will pay Lawyer ten percent of whatever she is awarded if Lawyer will take the case on a contingent fee basis. Lawyer calculates the amount of his prospective fee based on the conservative estimates of marital assets provided by Wife and, if he is successful, Lawyer will earn a fee greater than his salary the previous year. The arrangement will still leave Wife a very wealthy woman. Wife and Lawyer enter into the contingent fee agreement.

Is Lawyer subject to discipline?

A.        No, if his contingent percentage is not greater than 33 1/3 % of Wife’s award.

B.        No, since this is not a criminal case.

C.        Yes, because contingent fees are not allowed in divorce cases.

D.        Yes, because it is unfair to Husband, who must pay his lawyer in advance.


Question 40
Lawyer represented Client in a defamation action in which Client was the plaintiff. Defendants, a newspaper and reporter, had published a story which alleged Client, a local businessman, had seven years earlier operated an illegal gambling operation of which the police were well aware. According to the story, the operation was frequented by numerous unnamed high-ranking police officers. The reporter concluded that the police officers protected Client from prosecution. At trial, the paper and reporter relied on truth as their defense. Lawyer called numerous police officers as witnesses, all of whom testified that Client, among other businessmen, had been investigated with no finding of any wrongdoing. The confidential informant upon whom Reporter had relied did not testify and the jury returned a verdict in favor of Client, awarding several million dollars in damages. Two days after the verdict, Client came to Lawyer’s office. He thanked Lawyer and said, “Between you and me, we ran a huge operation back then. The paper had the story exactly right.” Lawyer advised the judge who presided over the trial about Client’s fraud.

Is Lawyer subject to discipline?

A.        No, because Lawyer was required to advise the court of the fraud.

B.        No, because Client’s admission was not made during the course of Lawyer’s representation. 

C.       No, because the duty of confidentiality ended when the litigation ended. 

D.        Yes, because Lawyer violated the duty of confidentiality owed to Client.

Question 41 

Judge is presiding over the trial of Defendant, who is represented by Lawyer. Defendant is charged with capital murder. In addition to his criminal defense practice, Lawyer also has a thriving matrimonial practice.  Lawyer often represents other attorneys in their divorces.

Some years ago, Lawyer represented Judge’s wife in the dissolution of their marriage. The litigation in that matter became protracted with both sides taking numerous depositions and expending large amounts of money in legal fees. Eventually, Judge was required to pay far more in alimony than he felt was appropriate. Judge developed a loathing for Attorney as a result.

Is Judge subject to discipline for not disqualifying himself from Defendant’s trial?

A.        No, unless Judge does not believe he can be impartial.

B.        No, unless Judge’s dislike of Attorney affects the performance of Judge’s duties.

C.        Yes, since Judge has a personal bias towards Attorney.

D.        Yes, but only if Attorney requested Judge’s removal from the case.

Question 42 

Lawyer has represented Client in numerous divergent types of matters for more than twenty years. Client is relatively uneducated, but is also extremely wealthy due to the success of his shrimp farm. Lawyer, until recently, was also extremely wealthy. However, a series of bad investments, combined with a protracted divorce have left Lawyer nearly bankrupt. One day while Lawyer and Client were casually discussing Lawyer’s situation, Client suggested that Lawyer enter into a partnership with Client involving the merchandising of articles of clothing bearing Client’s corporate logo. Lawyer reminded Client that Lawyer had no money to invest in the partnership. Client volunteered to loan Lawyer his share of the start-up costs, allowing Lawyer to pay back the loan from his share of the profits. Lawyer agreed to the relationship and drafted both the loan document and the business agreement. When he had completed preparing the documents, Lawyer phoned Client and told him the paperwork was done. Lawyer brought both documents to Client and told Client the documents simply memorialized the verbal agreement. Lawyer told Client it was not necessary for Client to have them reviewed because of the nature of their relationship. Lawyer did recommend that Client read both documents before signing them. In Lawyer’s presence, Client attempted to read the documents but had tremendous difficulty with the language contained in each. Client shrugged and commented on his lack of formal education but signed the documents anyway. Their business venture proved extremely profitable for both Client and Lawyer.

Is Lawyer subject to discipline?

A.        No, if the terms of the loan and the business arrangement were fair and reasonable.

B.        No, since it was Client who initially suggested the arrangement.

C.        Yes, because he failed to advise Client of the opportunity to have the documents reviewed by independent counsel.

D.        Yes, because he entered into a partnership with a non-lawyer.

Question 43 

Client sued Manufacturer for breach of warranty.  Attorney represented Client and, with Client’s approval, settled the case for $100,000.  Manufacturer wrote a check of $100,000, payable to Attorney’s order, as specified in the settlement agreement.  Attorney received the check and notified Client that he had endorsed the check and deposited it in Attorney’s Client Trust Account.  Attorney then sent an itemized statement that detailed Attorney’s total legal fees of $20,000.  Client did not agree with the total amount charged by Attorney and notified Attorney that he would pay only $15,000.

It is proper for Attorney to:

I.            Give Client $80,000 and transfer $20,000 to Attorney’s office account.

II.         Give Client $80,000, transfer $15,000 to Attorney’s office account, and retain $5,000 in Attorney’s Client Trust Account until there is a settlement of the fee dispute.

III.       Keep the $100,000 in Attorney’s Client Trust Account until they have reached a settlement of the fee dispute.

A.          I, II, and III.

B.          I and III, but not II.

C.          III only.

D.          II only.

Question 44 

Lawyer has represented Client in numerous matters over the course of twenty years. Currently, Lawyer represents Client in connection with a wrongful death suit against Client’s former son-in-law. In a highly publicized criminal trial the son-in-law was acquitted of the murder of Client’s daughter. This acquittal came despite what many considered to be irrefutable evidence of his guilt. Client has also completed a book detailing his experiences with the criminal justice system as it related to his daughter’s murder. Client has not yet found a publisher for the book and Lawyer is serving as Client’s agent. 

Client approached Lawyer and advised Lawyer that he had exhausted all of his money in his pursuit of the man he believes to be responsible for his daughter’s death, namely her former husband. Lawyer suggested Client accept a loan from Lawyer to help him meet expenses until his book is sold and Client receives his first check from the publishing company. Lawyer is convinced Client’s book will be a best seller. Lawyer advises Client that the loan, which will be paid back out of the first check from a publishing company, will be interest free. Client agrees to accept the loan and Lawyer drafts the documents and recommends Client have them reviewed by an attorney. Client declines review and signs the documents. 

Is Lawyer subject to discipline?

A.        Yes, because he entered into a prohibited transaction with a client.

B.        Yes, because he drafted the loan documents himself.

C.        No, if the terms of the loan are fair and reasonable. 

D.        No, because Client was desperate when he approached Lawyer.

Question 45 

Lawyer represented Husband in a divorce action instituted by Wife.  The couple had been married for twelve years when wife filed for divorce, alleging Husband was physically and emotionally abusive.  At the conclusion of the divorce proceeding, Husband was required to pay alimony to Wife every month.  This infuriated Husband.  Two years after the conclusion of the divorce proceeding, Husband called Lawyer to inquire about the possibility of having his alimony payment reduced.  Lawyer advised that it was unlikely since Husband’s economic status had not changed since the divorce.  Husband then asked how long he would have to continue to pay alimony.  Lawyer replied that the alimony term was indefinite and that only wife’s remarriage could terminate the obligation to pay.  Husband asked if that meant he would have to pay until wife died and Lawyer said, “Theoretically, yes.”  Husband then stated, “That can be arranged.  I know a guy who can burn down a house and make it look just like an accident.”  One week later, Lawyer read a newspaper article about a fire, which burned down Wife’s house and resulted in Wife’s death.  Lawyer immediately contacted the police and advised them of the comments that Husband had made.  Husband was arrested and confessed to the murder.

Is Lawyer subject to discipline?

A.        No, because failure to reveal Husband’s comments would have allowed Husband to get away with murder.  

B.        No, because Husband confessed to the murder.  

C.        No, because ethical rules require revelation of otherwise confidential information to rectify the consequences of a client’s criminal act. 

D.        Yes, for violating the duty of confidentiality.       

Question 46 

Lawyer is special counsel to Defendant, a ski resort. For years, Lawyer has relied on State’s downhill ski statute which provides immunity for resorts like Defendant against some personal injury claims. Lawyer recently argued before State’s highest court that immunity should apply when a plaintiff alleges his injuries were caused by negligent operation of a chair lift. In that case, the plaintiff’s attorney argued that a chair lift was a common carrier and its owner was subject to liability as such. The court agreed with Plaintiff’s attorney and held that injuries which were caused by negligent operation of a chair lift were compensable, and that it would be for a jury to decide if the lift was, in fact, operated negligently. Lawyer was advised of this decision by State’s highest court late one afternoon. The following day, Lawyer was in court at the trial level in another case involving alleged negligent operation of a ski lift. Lawyer made the same arguments that had been unsuccessful before State’s highest court.  Apparently neither Plaintiff’s counsel nor the judge was aware of the very new decision of the highest court.  The judge ruled in favor of resort and Plaintiff’s complaint was dismissed.

Is Lawyer subject to discipline?

A.        No, since Lawyer’s adversary was responsible to discover the new law on his own.

B.        No, since Lawyer truly believed the highest court had erred in their decision.

C.        Yes, for failing to reveal controlling legal authority to the tribunal.

D.        Yes, but only if the judge asked if Lawyer was aware of any new law relevant to the arguments made. 

Question 47 

Two sisters retained Attorney to assist in the planning of their estates. The sisters had shared the multi-million dollar estate left to them by their father.  Neither sister ever married and each wanted their entire estate to be left to the other. Attorney assisted the sisters by preparing their wills and setting up numerous trusts and other estate planning devices. 

Some years later, Attorney learned that one of the sisters had died. However, Attorney did not learn of her death until nearly a year after it had occurred. Upon learning of the sister’s death, Attorney prepared a correspondence to the surviving sister in which he offered his services to prepare new testamentary documents, particularly in light of some recent changes to the federal tax code which would directly impact the surviving sister’s estate.

Is Attorney subject to discipline?

A.        Yes, for making an improper solicitation by way of direct person-to-person communication.

B.        Yes, because Attorney knew the client’s sister had recently died. 

C.        No, because the letter was sent to a former client.

D.        No, but only if Attorney had a familial relationship with the client.

Question 48 

Associate is a newly admitted attorney. Following his admission, Associate began to work as a lawyer in the firm for which he had served as a law clerk for two years. During Associate’s second month as a lawyer, Partner called Associate into Partner’s office for a review of Associate’s billing records. Partner pointed out that Associate was billing forty hours per week. Partner told Associate that Associate was expected to bill a minimum of fifty-five hours every week. Partner said “I think I can help you out here. You’re only billing the time you actually spend on each item. A rule of thumb here is to bill for one and a half times the actual time you spend on each entry.  If you spend an hour writing a brief, bill for an hour and a half.  Our clients never review our bills that closely and they never question any of our time entries.” Following Partner’s advice, Associate billed sixty hours the following week.

Is Associate subject to discipline?

A.        Yes, for engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud or deceit.

B.        Yes, unless he reports Partner to the appropriate authorities.

C.        No, since the manner of billing is accepted by the firm’s clients.

D.        No, because Partner told Associate to change his billing method and Partner has the authority to tell Associate what to do.

Question 49 

Associate has been employed by Partner’s firm for three years. In that time, Associate has shown great promise and all involved believe Associate will one day become a partner in the firm. During Associate’s tenure with the law firm, Partner has been directly responsible for the supervision of Associate. 

Client, a collector of historical artifacts, came to the firm’s office and handed Associate a newly discovered manuscript handwritten by Mark Twain. Client told Associate that the manuscript was probably worth approximately one million dollars. Associate told Client not to worry and that Associate would see to it that the manuscript was kept safe.

Some weeks later, Client called Partner to set up an appointment at which time Client could retrieve the manuscript for the purpose of taking it to an auction at a famous auction house in New York City.  A confused Partner inquired, “What manuscript?” Frantic, Client managed to explain that he had given the manuscript to Associate. However, Associate was away on vacation. Partner immediately checked the firm’s safe and could not locate the manuscript. Partner was able to contact Associate who explained that in his rush to complete as much work as possible before his vacation, he forgot to put the manuscript away. Associate told Partner the manuscript was located on a bookshelf in Associate’s office. Partner went to Associate’s office and immediately found the manuscript.

Is Partner subject to discipline?

A.        No, since the manuscript was located and returned to Client.

B.        No, unless Associate had given prior indications of incompetence.

C.        Yes, if he failed to properly supervise Associate and failed to ensure that Associate complied with the rules of professional conduct.

D.        Yes, because Associate is Partner’s subordinate. 

Question 50 

Father and Daughter met with Lawyer regarding an employment discrimination case. Daughter, a recent business school graduate, applied for a job as a secretary with a large accounting firm. Daughter attended an interview with one of the firm’s partners. As part of the interview, Daughter was required to take a dictation test. On Daughter’s interview date, there were numerous candidates for the same position waiting to be interviewed. Daughter noticed that she was the only African-American candidate in the office. Daughter performed fairly well on the typing test. However, Daughter did not receive an offer of employment from the firm. Father believes it is possible that Daughter was not hired simply because of her race. Father advised Lawyer that he would be responsible for Daughter’s legal fees since, although she is eighteen years old, she has not yet begun working and cannot afford to hire her own Lawyer.

Two days after the initial meeting, Lawyer contacted the director of the human resources department at the accounting firm. He was attempting to determine, if possible, what reason the firm had for failing to offer a position to Daughter. The human resources director stated that she had been quite impressed with Daughter’s ability and felt Daughter would have made a fine secretary for the firm. However, Daughter had told the partner with whom she had interviewed that she had a change of heart and no longer wished to pursue a secretarial career and that she had decided to return to her true passion of acting. Daughter further said that the only reason she had applied for the secretarial position was to appease her father. Lawyer immediately phoned Father and told him the reason Daughter had not been hired.

Is Lawyer subject to discipline?

A.        No, because Father is entitled to information because he is paying the bills. 

B.        No, because Father will inevitably discover the truth when Lawyer does not file suit.

C.        Yes, because Daughter did not consent to the release of the information to Father.

D.        Yes, but only if Daughter specifically asked him not to divulge the information.

